5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

CA No. 2012-GS-32-2619  
Appeal Case No. 2014-001500

The State.....Respondent,  
v.  
Robert Jared Prather.....Appellant.

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

**ELIZABETH FRANKLIN-BEST**  
SC Bar No. 72555  
Blume Norris & Franklin-Best, LLC  
900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 765-1044

*Counsel for Appellant*

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Robert Jarad Prather was tried and convicted of the murder of Gerald Stewart, a man in his "mid to late 40's", who, as a chronic alcoholic, had a severely enlarged heart, liver, and spleen. At the time of his death, he weighed 285 pounds. At trial, the State's forensic pathologist, Janice Ross, testified that he could have died at any moment due to his poor health:

Q: But, of course, on the other hand, with that enlarged heart he had, he could have died at any time; is that correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Just drop dead?

A: Yes.

R.p.366, lines 12-17.

Prather was initially tried on October 26-28, 2009 but the jury did not convict him. Three years later, the State tried him again and, "fixing" the numerous shortcomings of its case, offered the new testimony of Officer Mark Jones who testified that Prather must have carved "rapist" into the decedent's back because his co-defendant, Joshua Phillips misspelled "rapist" in his written statement to him.<sup>1</sup> Over strenuous objection, the trial court judge admitted the testimony. See Argument IV. The State also called SLED "profiler" Paul LaRosa, in rebuttal, and without any notice to the defense at all, who analyzed the crime scene and concluded that "two people" were responsible for the condition of the decedent's body that, in addition to being

---

<sup>1</sup> "Rapist" was carved into the decedent. "Rapeist" was contained twice in Phillips' statement.

carved, was also covered with a blanket. See Arguments I, II, and III. Joshua Phillips, Prather's co-defendant who has a long history of mental illness, did not testify at either trial.

One week after Prather was found guilty and sentenced, the State allowed Joshua Phillips to plead guilty to voluntary manslaughter for a negotiated 20 year sentence. At that plea, which was handled before another judge by the same solicitors who handled Prather's case, the State offered a factually inconsistent version of events and informed that trial court judge that Phillips had given "his most truthful statement so far" and admitted to carving R-A-P-I-S-T into the decedent's back, thus contradicting the State's argument in Prather's trial presented through the testimony of Officer Mark Jones. Phillips also admitted smothering the victim and then covering him with a blanket. See Argument VI. Not only were these statements contrary to the State's position taken at trial, but they were contrary to the position taken by LaRosa, the State's 11<sup>th</sup> hour, previously undisclosed, star rebuttal expert witness.

Gerald Stewart was well known to law enforcement because he worked as a confidential informant. He had drug arrests for distribution of cocaine that were dismissed in connection with his financial agreement to help put others behind bars. R.pp.508-510. He also cooked barbeque, and law enforcement personally liked him. He also had a close relationship with a particular magistrate judge.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> See In the Matter of Richland County Magistrate Clemon L. Stocker <http://www.judicial.state.sc.us/opinions/displayOpinion.cfm?caseNo=25938> (last visited July 28, 2015).

In the early morning hours of Stewart's death, police came to his house to investigate, and they found someone in a back bed room, hidden under the covers— Stewart's roommate, Ron Rabon-- who was planning on moving out that Friday because he found out Stewart was a homosexual when he walked in on him and another gentleman watching a porno movie together. Despite his presence at the house when Stewart died, law enforcement never investigated him as a suspect.

#### THE EVENTS OF APRIL 21- 22, 2005

Prather testified on his own behalf at both of his trials and his version of events remained consistent. He testified that he met Gerald Stewart at a bar called "Calloway's" and was introduced to him by Joshua Phillips. R.p.652, lines 3-4. The night he met him, Prather told Stewart that he had received a fine in Richland County. Stewart said that he knew a judge who could reduce that fine. R.p.652, lines 3-23. A week later, Prather was again playing pool at Calloway's and Stewart showed up. He said he was looking for Joshua to give him a note about Prather meeting with the judge. It had Stewart's phone number on it. This note was found in Prather's wallet. *Id.* Prather said he called Stewart a couple of weeks later, and they agreed to go meet the judge one Saturday morning. R.p.653, lines 3-7. Prather picked him up at his house, and they met with the judge. *Id.*

On April 21st, the night before Stewart's death, Prather was again playing pool at Calloway's. Joshua showed up with his new girlfriend. She eventually left, and Prather's friends left. Joshua and Prather stayed and continued playing pool. R.pp.653-

64. Joshua asked if Prather could give him a ride to his brother's house, and he did so. They hung out with Joshua's brother that night. R.p.654, lines 1-14.

The next morning, they did not have anything to do. Joshua suggested that they go to Gerald Stewart's house. R.p.654, lines 16-25. Prather drove. R.p.655, line 20. They arrived around 1:00 pm. R.p.655, line 6. The three of them hung out and drank. Phillips and Stewart were drinking whiskey. R.p.655, lines 10-12. When they ran out, Prather drove all of them to the store to get more. R.p.655, lines 17-20. Around 5:00-6:00 pm, Ron Rabon, Stewart's roommate, arrived. R.p.656, lines 1-15. He changed out of his work clothes and then joined them. Around 8:00 pm, they left to buy more whiskey. *Id.* They ended up buying beer instead. R.p.657, lines 4-5. They returned to the house and went back to playing cards. *Id.* Stewart told them that, if they were looking to make some money, that he had a building in the backyard that needed to be cleaned out. They got up to walk outside to look at it. Prather went to the refrigerator to get a beer; Joshua and Stewart were outside. R.p.657, lines 17-20. As Prather walked outside, he saw Joshua and Stewart on the ground, rolling around. Joshua was screaming at Stewart and hitting him in his face, chest, and stomach. *Id.* Prather broke up the fight and helped Stewart get up, R.pp.658-657, and make his way back into the house. When they got back into the house, Joshua hit Stewart in the mouth again. *Id.*

Prather attempted to speak to Joshua about what was going on, but Joshua was crying and upset. He would not tell Prather what the fight was about. R.p.659, lines 5-10. At this point, it was around 10:00 pm. Around that time, Ron Rabon came out of his back bedroom and asked them if they knew where he could buy some cocaine. Joshua

told him that a guy sells it behind his brother's house. Then, Joshua, Prather, and Rabon went to the brother's house and purchased \$20 worth of cocaine from a man who lived behind Joshua's brother's house. Prather testified that he and Rabon consumed the cocaine. R.pp.659-660. While there, Joshua and his brother had a fight and Joshua's brother gave him a box with his belongings in it and told him to leave. Joshua threw the box in Prather's car and they went back to Stewart's house. R.p.660, lines 12-18.

They returned to Stewart's house around 11:15 pm. Rabon went back to his bedroom. Stewart put on the movie, "Tombstone." R.p.660, line 25. Joshua was falling asleep, so Prather handed him a pillow. Prather and Stewart finished watching the movie. Stewart indicated he wanted to go out and do something. R.p.661, lines 10-17. Prather said he wanted to take Joshua's stuff back to his brother's house, so he left and did that. He was gone for about 45 minutes to an hour. He returned to Stewart's house and honked the horn. R.p.661, line 25. Stewart eventually came out, and they drove off. R.p.662, lines 2-4. They ended up at Uncle Louie's, a bar. They drank beer. Then Stewart ordered shots of vodka. Prather did not drink any of the vodka. R.p.663, lines 1-4. Prather went to the bathroom, and when he returned, Stewart was gone. The bartender told him that Stewart went across the street to use the ATM machine. Stewart did not return. The bar was closing and the bartender told him there was a tab. Prather said something like, "someone should kick his ass for that!" R.p.663, lines 23-24. Prather said the bartender told him not worry about it; that he does it all the time. R.p.664, lines 4-6.

On the way back to his house, Stewart wanted to know if Prather could get him any cocaine from the guy they got it from earlier. Prather told him he really did not know him that well, but that he would try. He dropped Stewart off at his house, and then went back to the drug dealer. He was gone for about thirty minutes. R.p.664, line 30. He did not get any additional drugs.

Prather then returned to Stewart's house and walked in. He saw Stewart come out of his bedroom completely naked, and with an erection and clothes in his hands. R.p.665, lines 4-6. Stewart looked at him, and asked if he knew that Josh "liked his dick sucked." And he asked him if he (Prather) had ever "fucked Josh." R.p.665, lines 11-13. As he was saying this, Stewart began dressing. Prather asked where Josh was, and Stewart told him not to worry about it. Prather wanted to take Joshua home, but Stewart told him he was not leaving. R.p.665, lines 18-19. Prather started to move, and Stewart grabbed his arm. Prather told him that if he did not let him go, he would call the police. Stewart told him that he was not going to do that. Prather then hit Stewart, R.p.666, line 9, and they fell to the floor. Prather jumped up and went into the bedroom. There he found Joshua in bed in his boxers. Prather screamed at him to get up, but Joshua did not move. He tried to shake him to wake him up, but he was not moving. He slapped him in the face and saw his eyes roll back in his head. R.p.667, line 21. When Joshua came to, they saw a dildo on the bed by Joshua's feet. They looked around for Joshua's clothes and then left the bedroom and entered the living room area. They observed that Stewart was getting up, and using the couch to help

him. Joshua hit Stewart again on the head. R.p.668, lines 19-20. Joshua was screaming and upset and kicked Stewart. R.p.66, line 23- p. 669, line 4.

At the time of this incident, Prather weighed 135 pounds. R.p.669, line 20.

As they were leaving, Joshua could not find his shoes. At the door, Prather went out to the car and Joshua went back into the house to find his shoes. R.p. 670, lines 6-8. When he left the house, Stewart was still alive. Prather denies that he carved anything into Stewart's back. R.p.670, lines 23-25.

Joshua walked quickly back to the car. He had something in his hands, but it was dark so Prather did not identify it. Prather told Joshua that they needed to go to the police, or the hospital. They stopped by Joshua's brother's house to get shoes. R.p.671, lines 12-17. Joshua was upset and crying the whole time. At one point, he tried to jump from the car. Prather pulled over into a Chinese food restaurant parking lot and told Joshua he needed to calm down. Joshua jumped from the car and ran across the Plaza and into Calloway's bar. R.p.672, lines 8-20. Prather jumped out and followed him into the bar. He convinced Joshua that he needed to go to the hospital, and then Prather drove him there. R.p.673, lines 23-25.

At the hospital, Prather told a nurse, Donna Sharpe, what happened. R.p.673, lines 18-25. He also told law enforcement what happened at Gerald Stewart's house. R.pp.674-676. The entire time that Joshua Phillips was at the hospital, and while Prather was speaking to law enforcement, Phillips never told anyone that Prather had "made him do it."

## ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION, AND VIOLATED PRATHER'S RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS, BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT A "CRIME SCENE ANALYST" WHEN HIS TESTIMONY WAS (1) NOT PROPER REBUTTAL TESTIMONY, (2) NOT SCIENTIFICALLY VALID, AND (3) INVADED THE PROVINCE OF THE JURY.

In rebuttal, and for the first time, the State offered SLED agent Paul LaRosa as an expert witness based on his involvement in crime scene investigations. The state tendered him as an expert in "crime scene analysis" which is another term for "profiling." R.p.732, lines 16-17.<sup>3</sup> See James Aaron George, Note, *Offender Profiling and Expert Testimony: Scientifically Valid or Glorified Results*, 61 Vand. L. Rev. 221, 226 (2008) (explaining that in the 1970's, Howard Teten and Patrick Mullany, members of the FBI's Behavioral Analysis Unit, pioneered a technique known as "offender profiling" in which profilers examined crime scenes in order to predict offender behavior and motives that would aid in offender identification). LaRosa was not involved in this investigation, nor was he called as a witness during Prather's first trial. LaRosa conceded his testimony was non-scientific but was offered as "experience" based. He further conceded during pre-admission *voir dire* by defense counsel that his review of the case was limited to crime scene photos/ video and the courtroom testimony of Prather and Ron Rabon. LaRosa did not review the full investigative file, was not involved in investigating the case, and did not interview any witnesses. Critically,

---

<sup>3</sup> The State argued, "The State intends to call Paul LaRosa, who is a SLED agent who is an expert on crime scene analysis, and that would include crime scene interpretation and also artifacts and the crime scenes are left describes the behavior and the motives of the people who have committed a crime. He will not be presented to develop a profile or to say that anybody is consistent with that type of individual, just to explain the crime scene." R.p.732, lines 11-25.

despite his testimony that focused on the “psychology” of the participant(s) of the crime, he never reviewed the available mental health records of Phillips who has a long history of mental health issues. See *Motion to Require Psychiatric Examination of Joshua Phillips*, filed April 27, 2009 in the Lexington County Clerk of Court’s Office. Additionally, his testimony did not establish any sufficient training in the area of psychology, especially important as his opinion was cloaked in putting himself into the minds of the assailants as there were no witnesses or supporting physical evidence of his theory of multiple participants. Had LaRosa reviewed those records, he would have found that Phillips had a history of hallucinations and delusional behavior and was quite capable of both carving “rapist” into the decedent’s back and covering him up—all without Prather’s input.

Trial counsel objected to LaRosa’s testimony on the grounds that (1) it was not proper reply testimony, R.p.733, 751, (2) it was not scientifically valid, R.p.751, and (3) the content of the testimony invaded the jury’s province, R.p.754-55. The trial court judge overruled all of these objections.

LaRosa had never been accepted as an expert witness in crime scene analysis. R.p.747, lines 17-19. He had not been given any information relating to Joshua Phillips mental health history. R.p.748, lines 7-15. According to LaRosa, his job was limited to “get an idea of how many possible offenders could be in that scene.” R.p.747, line 23- p.

748, line 6<sup>4</sup>. LaRosa could not answer defense counsel's question as to the reliability of profiles in general. R.pp.748-49. LaRosa acknowledged he did not have any formal training from an educational institution in the area of psychology and that he had only completed a 30 day internship with the Department of Mental Health in that field. R.p.763, line 11. The trial court judge, however, found LaRosa's testimony admissible and "reliable for the jury to hear on the issues of staging, directed anger and recovery." R.p.754, lines 6-9.

Before the jury, the State asked:

Q: What makes you an expert in crime scene analysis?

A: I'm not quite sure—what makes—I believe the training that I've gone through, the intense crime scene work that I've already done for the state where I'm testified as a - an expert in crime scene reconstruction and assessment and the intense two-year training program that I went through, and I believe that when I was accepted by my brothers and sisters within the FBI as an equal and allowed to write criminal and crime scene analysis and profiles for the FBI with my name attached and the

---

<sup>4</sup> LaRosa attempted to minimize the extent of his opinion in this case, despite the fact that it was a critical element that the State had to prove. The following exchange illustrates the duplicitous nature of the State's argument:

Q: You are not here to say that Mr. Prather did anything, are you?

A: That is correct. The only thing that I can say based upon what limited amount of time that I've had to do this, because I couldn't get a complete victimology, I couldn't look at their past histories, their psychological files or any of that. When I look at the crime scene I saw two offenders because we have elaborate staging in which one offender wants the world to know that this guy is a rapist. Whether he is in his mind or not that is the perception that this offender wants to give to the public that this guy is a rapist I want the world to see, and, in fact, I want the world to see so much that I'm going to put a dildo next to him to show how disgusting he is. And in direct conflict with that is another personality who is wanted to erase and undo what has happened. That is from two different personalities, which is my opinion is two different offenders." R.pp.745-46.

SLED letterhead with the FBI seal right next to it, and they allowed it to kind of go out to different agencies. I worked one in California, Utah. Those types of things where my name was attached to those people who I admire and respect and who are the leaders in the behavioral science world. I guess I want to say—I mean, it's not my decision to say, but I believe that my training and experience has put me up there. I'm on equal plain with my peers within the FBI."

R.pp.761-62.

LaRosa then opined that two people had to be involved in "staging" the crime scene. Specifically, he testified that one person carved "rapist" into the decedent's back while another person, feeling the shame, covered him with a blanket.

LaRosa's "staging" testimony was used to support the State's otherwise unsupported theory that Phillips and Prather acted in concert, and contradicted Prather's testimony that he was not involved in, nor did he witness, any carving of the word "rapist" on Stewart and had no knowledge as to Stewart's being covered in a blanket. It also contradicted Prather's testimony that he left Phillips in the house alone with the decedent. In short, this testimony was offered to impeach Prather's version of events regarding Stewart's death that the State was well-aware of since he testified on his own behalf at his first trial.

LaRosa's testimony was critical to the State's theory of the case, as evidenced by the Solicitor's closing argument:

Let's talk about staging. Staging. You heard Paul LaRosa, the last witness that we called up, talked to you about staging. He's a behavioral unit at SLED. Staging is the attempt to misdirect you from what happened. That's exactly what this is. This is a beating and a killing. It wasn't a rape and a beating. It wasn't a self-defense and a beating. You'd call the police on that. I just—this guy was coming at me and I hit him. He's not breathing. I didn't hit him that hard, but he's not breathing.

Look to his actions and to his words. Carving into him, putting a dildo on him, flicking a cigarette, making burns. Hey, world, this is a rape staging. Is that what somebody who had really been raped would do? If Josh Phillips really did that, if he was so mad and so angry because he thought he'd been violated by Gerald Stewart, is that what he would have done or would it have been worse? Would he have plunged the knife into him, over and over to kill him and spell out the word rapist? Would he have mutilated him? Cutting off or disfiguring a body part that offended him, his mouth or his genitals? Would the dildo be under his armpit or would it be somewhere else? It's staging. It didn't happen.

That's not the reason Gerald Stewart was killed. It was not the reason he was beat. An attempt to cover him up with a blanket and pillow. I think he called it undoing. A different behavior, a different person. Two people with one leader, one follower. He told you his story. If we have proved to you beyond a reasonable doubt that it's not true, he's guilty of murder.

R.pp.833-34.

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