ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001500

---

RECEIVED

MAR 09 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT JARED PRATHER,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit  
205 E. Main Street  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 785-8352

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

fact.]” Simmons v. State, 797 So.2d 1134, 1156 (Ala. Crim. App. 1999) *quoting* United States v. deSoto, 885 F.2d 354, 359 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989). In light of the grotesqueness of the crime scene, and the condition of the victim’s body, the trial court did not err in admitting the expert testimony because the jury would be greatly assisted by a professional analysis of the crime scene in comparison to other murder cases. Expert testimony on this subject was reasonably likely to assist the jury in understanding and assessing the evidence, in that the matter at issue was highly material, and beyond the realm of “acquired” knowledge normally possessed by lay jurors. Simmons, 797 So.2d at 1156-57; Meeks, *supra* at 68-69 (“A homicide and its crime scene, after all, are not matters likely to be within the knowledge of an average” juror).

Judge Newman found below that “staging” and “undoing” are basic concepts of crime scene reconstruction and assessment, both areas to which Agent LaRosa testified previously as an expert. Judge Newman also found as reliable that two (2) distinct, separate, and opposing emotions are shown in “staging” and “undoing.” Finally, Judge Newman found Agent LaRosa’s opinion multiple actors were present at the death scene was reliable, and was consistent with logic and common sense in light of the testimony of the defendant Prather. Judge Newman’s findings are fully supported by the record, including the statements of Prather to the hospital nurse and police, the testimony of Ron Rabon, and the evidence at the crime scene.

Finally, Prather argues LaRosa’s testimony improperly invaded the province of the jury as fact finder. This is clearly not accurate. “Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact.” Rule 704, SCRE. “[S]o long as the expert does not opine on the criminal defendant’s state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not

permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant's guilt or innocence.”, State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 269, 721 S.E.2d 413, 421 (2011).

LaRosa’s testimony plainly did not enter the province of the jury since at no point did LaRosa “opine on the criminal defendant's state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law . . .” Id. (emphasis added). He merely opined on the potential personality of whoever may have committed the crime. He offered no testimony as to whether, in his opinion, Prather had this criminal state of mind or had committed the crime. LaRosa’s testimony revolved around the limited issue of, based on the staging of the crime scene, and undoing, how many perpetrators committed the crime and what personalities they may have possessed. At no time did he advise the jury to find Prather guilty and in fact made no mention of Prather or the governing law of the case. Therefore, Prather’s argument regarding the expert testimony is clearly without merit, and Judge Newman did not abuse his discretion in admitting this rebuttal or reply testimony.

Even assuming *arguendo* the admission of this reply testimony was erroneous, its admission was harmless. The focus of this analysis is “whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to a guilty verdict.” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012). The Supreme Court mentioned a number of factors to be considered in determining whether an error is harmless:

the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.

Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, (1986); *see also* State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d 315 (2002). Applying these factors, any error would be harmless. Prather’s statements to both the hospital staff and police that he assaulted the victim (i.e. he struck the victim with

“devastating blows”, the victim was alive, but just barely, and he needed to wash the victim’s blood off his hands) corroborated the evidence found at the scene and the autopsy. The stolen items found in Prather’s vehicle and on Phillips, the blood (DNA) found on Prather’s sock and the back of his shirt, and the knife found in Prather’s car also corroborated two (2) people were involved in this murder, not just one (1), and this crime was motivated by robbery not Prather’s claim of a sexual assault on Phillips. This reply evidence was also subject to rigorous cross-examination by Prather, leading to favorable testimony from this witness who admitted he could not say Prather staged the crime scene or carved the word “rapist” on the victim’s back. Judge Newman also instructed the jury they were to determine the credibility of any expert witness testimony just as they did a lay witness. The jury was the judge of the credibility of Prather and LaRosa in reply. Prather’s trial testimony was impeached several times when he alleged he either did not make statements testified to by the E.R. nurse or police, or his version of events had changed at trial. As a result, the admission of this testimony, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012).

#### **Argument II.**

**Judge Newman did not abuse his discretion in admitting LaRosa’s testimony because there was no discovery violation.**

Prather argues Judge Newman abused his discretion when he allowed LaRosa’s testimony because it was not produced in discovery pursuant to SCRCr.P., Rule 5, or Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963). There is absolutely no merit to this argument.

This issue is not preserved for appellate review. This objection was not raised to Judge Newman during the *in camera* hearing or when the evidence was introduced before the jury. It was not raised until Prather raised it in his post-trial motion for a new trial. As a result, it is not

preserved for appellate review. King, *supra* (a new trial motion may not be used to raise an evidentiary issue for the first time); Kelly, *supra*, *citing* Holmes; McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys..

Further, there is no factual or legal merit to this ground. This is not a Rule 5 issue since LaRosa issued no discoverable report. Rule 5, SCRCr.P. Further, his name as part of the witness list for the State was not required to be given to the defense since he was to be called only in the event Prather took the stand, i.e. he was a reply witness. The defense had an opportunity to cross-examine LaRosa both in the *in camera* hearing and during testimony in front of the jury. The defense also had opportunity to request the Court to allow the defense to present surrebuttal testimony. However, the defense made no request. *See* State v. Nicholson, 366 S.C. 568, 623 S.E.2d 100 (Ct. App. 2005)(defendant not entitled to suppression or continuance to get his own expert where the State called the expert to testify about general characteristics of sex abuse victims; informing the defense of this witness before the trial was just professional courtesy).

Finally, non-disclosure of LaRosa's testimony prior to his calling in reply was not a Brady violation. The State has a duty to disclose evidence that is *favorable to the defendant*. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194 ("the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to the accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution."). A defendant asserting a Brady violation must demonstrate the evidence the State failed to disclose was favorable to the defendant [i.e. *exculpatory*], in possession of or known to the State, suppressed by the State, and material to guilt or punishment. *See* Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). Prather cannot show a Brady violation because LaRosa's testimony was not *exculpatory* and was limited to only the staging of the crime scene as regards to how many perpetrators committed the crime. He offered no testimony directly stating he

believed Prather and or Phillips were guilty of the murder. Therefore, his testimony was **not exculpatory** nor was it directly incriminating and, not a due process violation under Brady.

Furthermore, the failure to provide Agent LaRosa's name would be harmless. *See State v. Miller*, 289 S.C. 316, 345 S.E.2d 489 (1986)(where parties were ordered to exchange lists and the State called a witness not on the list, the Court found the error was harmless).

### **Argument III.**

#### **The State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct by allegedly "sandbagging."**

Prather further argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct and violated Prather's right to due process, when it *allegedly* "sandbagged" the defense with Larosa's reply or rebuttal testimony. There is no merit to this ground.

This issue is not preserved for appellate review. Prather did not raise this issue at the time the evidence was offered in the *in camera* hearing or before the jury. This issue was not raised until a post-trial motion for a new trial. As a result, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. King, (a new trial motion may not be used to raise an evidentiary issue for the first time); Kelly, *citing Holmes*; McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys.

Further, the testimony did not constitute "sandbagging" as it was offered to rebut Prather's contentions in his testimony only one (1) person committed the murder, Phillips, and Prather's timeline and claim he was not involved. Furthermore, unlike in Coreas v. United States, 565 A.2d 594 (D.C. App. 1989), the State did not offer LaRosa's testimony in reply in order to present a new theory of the case. The rebuttal testimony served to rebut the arguments of Prather through his testimony and were wholly consistent with State's theory of the murder, presented in its case-in-chief. Prather similarly misuses United States v. Cannon, 88 F.3d 1495, 1503 (8th Cir. 1996), a case in which the court reversed on prejudicial statements made in the

State's closing arguments—completely unlike the present case. A similarly unrelated situation is presented in Wallis v. State, 546 S.W.2d 244 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1976), in which the court disallowed the defense from presenting a closing argument.

All of Prather's case law points to a procedural error not presented in this case. These cases present issues where the State offered new evidence or theories of the case in their closing arguments and did not allow the defense to rebut it in any way. These cases are not analogous to the present case in which State was merely presenting reply testimony which the defense had opportunity to both cross-examine and to present a motion for *surrebutal*. Further, the defense had the opportunity to argue against the interpretation offered by LaRosa in its closing argument, unlike the cases cited by Prather. Prather cites no South Carolina case law to support his contention. This appellate ground has no merit and must be denied and dismissed.

#### **Argument IV.**

**Judge Newman did not err in admitting in evidence the fact that Phillips spelled the word rapist "rapeist" because the fact that Phillips misspelled the word was relevant, was not hearsay, did not violate the Confrontation Clause, and its prejudicial effect did not substantially outweigh its probative value.**

#### *How the Issue arose below*

As previously stated, the word "rapist" had been etched in the victim's back. At trial, in a *in camera* hearing, the State sought to introduce in evidence the fact Prather's co-defendant, Phillips, misspelled the word rapist ["rapeist"] when talking to police. Prather objected to the admissibility of the misspelling of the word "rapist" on confrontation clause grounds and because the testimony was allegedly highly prejudicial. *In the hearing*, the State offered a six-page statement written by Phillips describing the death of the victim. Captain Mark Jones of the West Columbia Police observed Phillips write this statement. Jones did not direct Phillips to write the statement nor did he dictate anything to Phillips for him to write. On page three (3) of

the statement, Phillips describes how Prather carved the word “rapist” on the victim’s back-side. In describing this event, Phillips wrote the word “rapist” twice. However, he misspelled the word on both occasions, spelling the word “r-a-p-e-i-s-t.” The State viewed this misspelling as significant and relevant because the word carved on the victim’s back was spelled correctly “r-a-p-i-s-t.” The statement of Phillips also included other misspellings. For example, on page three (3), Phillips spelled “torturing” as “t-o-r-c-h-e-r-i-n-g” and “pretense” as “p-r-e-t-i-n-c-e.”

Notably, the State informed the Court in the *in-camera* hearing **it did not intend to introduce the statement of the co-defendant Phillips**, nor did it introduce the six-page written statement as evidence before the jury, nor was it ever referenced during the trial. The State cut the words “rapist” from a copy of the statement, enlarged them, and offered them as exhibits.

During the trial, the testimony offered by Captain Jones was limited. He testified he recognized the two (2) cutouts of the word “rapist” as words Phillips wrote in his presence. He acknowledged Phillips was under arrest at the time, but he never mentioned anything about Phillips writing a statement. Jones testified he did not ask Phillips to write, or tell him how to spell, the word “rapist,” and he did not ask Phillips how he spells the word. He testified that the misspelling was important because the word carved on the victim was spelled correctly.

On cross-examination, Jones testified he never told Phillips the importance of the word “rapist.” He admitted he did not know if Phillips intentionally misspelled the word. In addition, Prather introduced a photograph of coins and bullets stolen from the victim and found on Phillips at the hospital after the victim was killed, suggesting to the jury Phillips was the killer.

Prather raised similar issues regarding the word “rapist” in his Motion for a New Trial. After hearing arguments from both parties in the *in camera* hearing, Judge Newman held the two (2) exhibits (R. 1049 & 1050, State’s 24 & 25) of Phillips’ misspelling of the word “rapist” were

admissible. In ruling on the Motion for a New Trial, Judge Newman also found he did not abuse his discretion in admitting the two (2) exhibits as the word was not a hearsay statement and was not a testimonial statement subject to the Confrontation Clause of the Constitution, and the statement was properly redacted. In addition, Judge Newman found he did not abuse his discretion by allowing Jones to testify to his observation of Phillips writing the word “rapeist.” (R. 974, Order, p. 4).

Judge Newman found the evidence was not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, i.e. rapeist, but that Phillips could not properly spell the word rapist correctly, when the word was carved into the victim’s buttocks spelled correctly, i.e. rapist.

Prather contends Judge Newman abused his discretion by allowing the State to introduce alleged co-defendant hearsay because (1) it was inadmissible under the SCRE, (2) it was unreliable, (3) it was irrelevant, and (4) its admission violated Prather’s right to confront the witnesses against him. There is no merit to this argument.

First, Prather’s arguments the evidence was unreliable, irrelevant, and inadmissible generally under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence are not preserved for appellate review. These issues were not raised to the trial court when the evidence was sought to be admitted or admitted during the trial as discussed above. (R. 298-311).<sup>17</sup> As a result, these issues are not preserved for appellate review. King, (a new trial motion may not be used to raise an evidentiary issue for the first time); Kelly, *citing Holmes*; McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys..

Furthermore, there is no merit to Prather’s arguments. In this case, there were two (2) people charged with murder. The misspelled word “rapeist” was clearly significant, relevant, and probative because the word carved on the victim’s back was spelled correctly. Phillips

---

<sup>17</sup> Prather concedes in his brief, an objection to relevancy was not raised at trial. And, it was only addressed by Judge Newman’s Order denying the Motion for a New Trial. (IBOA, p. 24).

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